RECEIVED

Oct 19 2022

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Georgetown County
Honorable Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JEREMIAH DICAPUA,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-000570

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial court err in allowing an in-court identification after ruling that the show-up identification of appellant after the State's witness failed to pick him out of a photo lineup was unnecessarily suggestive?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Jeremiah DiCapua was indicted by a Georgetown County grand jury for kidnapping. R. 517. On November 30, 2020, a Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188 (1972) hearing was held before the Honorable Steven John. R. 1. Alicia Richardson represented the State. R. 1. Ricky Todd and Madison Harte represented appellant. R. 1. Judge John relieved Mr. Todd at the end of the hearing and continued the matter. R. 78, l. 6 – 24.

On May 11, 2021, appellant was tried before Judge John and a jury. R. 80. Alicia Richardson and Elizabeth Smith represented the State. R. 80. William Edgeworth represented appellant. R. 80. The jury acquitted appellant of kidnapping, but convicted him of the lesser included offense of attempted kidnapping. R. 503, l. 7 – 13. Judge John sentenced appellant to thirty years' imprisonment for attempted kidnapping and placement on the sex offender registry. R. 505, l. 4 – 7. This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Legal issues related to improper identifications are mixed questions of law and fact reviewed for abuse of discretion or prejudicial legal error. State v. Moore, 343 S.C. 282, 540 S.E.2d 445 (2000).

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in allowing an in-court identification after ruling that the show-up identification of appellant after the State's witness failed to pick him out of a photo lineup was unnecessarily suggestive.

But for the improperly obtained identification of appellant Jeremiah DiCapua ("DiCapua"), the police admitted they would have had no probable cause to arrest him for attempting to kidnap Stacey Starnes ("Starnes"). R. 136, l. 22 – 137, l. 20. After two Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188 (1972), hearings—the first which was continued under unusual circumstances—the trial court ruled that the show-up identification in this case was unnecessarily suggestive. R. 190, l. 14 – 193, l. 14. Nevertheless, the court permitted Starnes to identify DiCapua by ruling that her identification was reliable. R. 190, l. 14 – 193, l. 14.

In June 2018, Starnes and her husband were vacationing in a Garden City beach house rental with friends. R. 158, l. 11 – 23. On Sunday morning, Starnes went for a run on the road nearest the beach, South Waccamaw. R. 159, l. 2 – 12. R. 109, l. 1 – 6. Her husband joined her. R. 159, l. 2 – 12. She ran one mile and turned back while her husband continued straight. R. 159, l. 2 – 12. Starnes finished her two miles and turned around to meet her husband. R. 159, l. 2 – 12.

Starnes saw a black SUV at a stop sign. R. 159, 13 – 25. The door opened and a man got out. R. 159, l. 20 – 160, l. 12. The man tried to talk to Starnes, but she could not remember what he said. R. 160, l. 8 – 12. Starnes kept walking. R. 159, l. 13 – 19.

She walked another five minutes and saw the same black SUV parked with its "back end on the sidewalk." R. 161, l. 22 – 162, l. 10. The man was outside of the car and as Starnes approached, he began walking towards her. R. 161, l. 22 – 162, l. 10. The man reached for her twice without making contact. R. 161, l. 22 – 162, l. 10. On the third try, the man grabbed her

arm. R. 162, l. 11 – 23. She yelled, “No,” jerked away, and sprinted to a house and hid behind cars. R. 162, l. 15 – 163, l. 10. She called her husband and they called the police. R. 163, l. 8 – 25. The police drove Starnes around the area to see if she could recognize any cars to no avail. R. 164, l. 3 – 18.

Starnes’ initial description to the police was of a “male 45-50 years old, tan, slightly heavy set, dark hair, no shirt, with shorts.” R. 109, l. 17 – 22. A sketch artist produced a drawing of the man and the police released it to the media. R. 110, l. 4 – 18. The sketch was entered into evidence as State’s Ex. 4 at the Biggers hearing. One of the officers who used the sketch agreed that while it has “similarities” to DiCapua, he could not be identified with certainty from the sketch. R. 153, l. 1 – 10.

Looking for video footage of the incident led police to a liquor store on Atlantic Avenue near the intersection with Highway 17. R. 143, l. 19 – 144, l. 10. The owner of the liquor store said the sketch looked like one of his customers and the owner and the police were able to determine the customer was DiCapua. R. 145, l. 9 – 146, l. 24. The police obtained photos of DiCapua and his black Jeep from the store. R. 146, l. 3 – 147, l. 23. State’s Ex. 6. Except for having a paper tag, nothing about DiCapua’s Jeep in State’s Ex. 6 is remarkable.

SLED sent the police a photo lineup containing a picture of DiCapua. R. 118, l. 1 – 13. The lineup is State’s Exhibit 8 and is on file with this Court. State’s Ex. 8. DiCapua is in the fourth position in the lineup. R. 118, l. 12 – 13.

On June 12, two days after the incident, the police showed Starnes the lineup at the vacation house. R. 119, l. 10 – 21. Starnes did not pick out anyone in the lineup. R. 119, l. 22 – 120, l. 8. The investigator said, “Upon viewing the photo lineup she appeared to be very undetermined.” R. 120, l. 2 – 4. When describing the attack, Starnes said, “I’ll never forget the eyes, they were that

big as he was doing it.” R. 62, L. 20 – 23. She guessed she had approximately twenty seconds to view her attacker. R. 170, l. 14 – 171, l. 8.

The investigator called the solicitor’s office for guidance. R. 120, l. 7 – 12. After conferring with “Solicitor Todd,” the police “came to the conclusion that a driveby identification would be performed with the victim.”¹ R. 120, l. 7 – 12. The investigator testified that he thought the show-up identification would be “appropriate due to the fact of the poor quality of the photo lineup.” R. 120, l. 18 – 23. The investigator said the lineup was poor because DiCapua’s head had been cropped at the top and that it did not show DiCapua at his current age (approximately 70 years old at the time of the incident). R. 120, l. 18 – 23. R. 238, l. 1 – 5.

On cross-examination, defense counsel asked the investigator if he showed the photo lineup to Starnes despite his concerns over its quality and the investigator replied, “Correct.” R. 131, l. 3 – 8. He confirmed he had never shown a lineup to a witness that did not have the suspect in it. R. 131, l. 13 – 23. He did not ask SLED for a new array, claiming first that no other photo was available. R. 138, l. 4 – 6. He then admitted he did not know at the time whether another photo was available. R. 138, l. 7 – 12. The police did not contemplate showing the still shots of DiCapua from the liquor store to Starnes. R. 129, l. 21 – 130, l. 5. The investigator said, “We don’t do that.” R. 129, l. 21 – 23.

The next day the police put Starnes and her husband in an unmarked black Tahoe with tinted windows and drove her to DiCapua’s house. R. 121, l. 1 – 122, l. 22. The officers planned

¹ Judge John originally heard the Biggers motion on November 30, 2020, approximately five months before DiCapua was ultimately tried. Hearing R. 1. At the beginning of the hearing, DiCapua waived any conflict concerning the prior employment of his lawyer, Ricky Todd, by the solicitor’s office. Hearing R. 4, l. 18 – 6, l. 20. Todd said he had disclosed his involvement in the case to DiCapua. Hearing R. 4, l. 18 – 6, l. 20. When it came to light at the hearing that Todd was the lawyer at the solicitor’s office who authorized the show-up identification, Judge John disqualified Todd because he was a fact witness in the case and continued the case without ruling on the Biggers motion.

to draw DiCapua out of the house with a “knock and talk” about the tag on his car. R. 121, l. 1 – 122, l. 22. Starnes said the officer told her that they were going to “get the possible suspect out . . . to see if I recognized him or didn’t recognize him.” R. 168, l. 6 – 14. DiCapua’s black Jeep was at his house. R. 121, l. 1 – 122, l. 22.

The investigator guessed they had told Starnes “three or four times” that she was getting ready to see the person the police believed was the suspect. R. 134, l. 14 – 25. Starnes claimed that she immediately recognized DiCapua’s black Jeep and “knew without a doubt that was the car, because I had seen a million that week trying to point out which one it was, and I knew that was it.” R. 168, l. 15 – 22. She also said she recognized DiCapua immediately after he walked out of the door. R. 168, l. 15 – 24. The police arrested DiCapua two days after Starnes saw DiCapua at the show-up identification. R. 334, l. 16 – 25.

After hearing argument, Judge John ruled that Starnes’ show-up identification resulted from unnecessarily suggestive police procedures. R. 191, l. 4 – 11. The trial judge said, “Clearly, this was not a proper procedure. I don’t think anybody can argue that.” R. 191, l. 7 – 11. Judge John then ruled he would allow Starnes to make an in-court identification because it “was so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification exists.” R. 191, l. 12 – 140, l. 14. Starnes was the first witness in the trial and identified DiCapua as her attacker.² R. 230, l. 14 – 189, l. 8.

The trial judge erred in allowing Starnes to make an identification after the police tainted her ability to do so with the highly suggestive and improper show-up identification. Single person show-ups are particularly disfavored in the law. Stovall v. Denno, 388 U.S. 293 (1967) (practice

² Appellant anticipates the State may attempt to assert a procedural bar because of the lack of any contemporaneous objection when Starnes identified DiCapua in the courtroom, but such an objection is no longer necessary after the Supreme Court’s recent Opinion in State v. Jones, 435 S.C. 138, 866 S.E.2d 138 (2021). Jones holds that if a full pretrial hearing is held on a constitutional issue, “no further objection is required to preserve the issue for appellate review.” Jones at 144, 866 S.E.2d at 562.

of showing suspects singly to persons for the purpose of identification, and not as part of a lineup, has been widely condemned); State v. Moore, 343 S.C. 282, 540 S.E.2d 445 (2000).

A criminal defendant may be deprived of due process of law by an identification procedure that is unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to irreparable mistaken identification. State v. Mansfield, 343 S.C. 66, 77, 538 S.E.2d 257, 263 (Ct. App. 2000). An in-court identification of an accused is inadmissible if a suggestive out-of-court identification procedure created a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification. Manson v. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. 98 (1977).

The United States Supreme Court has developed a two-prong inquiry to determine the admissibility of an out-of-court identification. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188. First, “[a] court must first determine whether the identification process was unduly suggestive.” Id., 409 U.S. at 198; Moore 343 S.C. at 286-287, 540 S.E.2d at 447. The court must next decide whether the out-of-court identification was nevertheless so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed ... only if [the procedure] was suggestive need the court consider the second question—whether there was a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification. Id.

Judge John correctly ruled that show-up identification was unnecessarily suggestive. See State v. Wyatt, 421 S.C. 306, 310-11, 806 S.E.2d 708, 710 (2017). The court also correctly stated the five-factor test to be used in the second prong of the Biggers analysis, but erred in its legal conclusion. Identification issues are mixed questions of law and fact reviewed under for abuse of discretion or prejudicial legal error. Moore at 288, 540 S.E.2d at 448. Even with the benefit of the standard of review, the trial judge erred in finding Starnes’ identification reliable after it was tainted by the police in a procedure ratified by the solicitor’s office.

In considering whether an identification is reliable, based on the totality of the circumstances and despite the use of an unduly suggestive process, the court should consider the

following factors: (1) the opportunity of the witness to view the offender at the time of the crime; (2) the witness' degree of attention; (3) the accuracy of the witness' prior description of the criminal; (4) the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation; and (5) the length of time between the crime and the confrontation. Moore, 343 S.C. at 289, 540 S.E.2d at 448-449.

Starnes had little opportunity to view her attacker. She said she had only twenty seconds and that the encounter was quick. Her degree of attention focused on the assailant's eyes, but she did not pick DiCapua out of the lineup even though his eyes were unchanged in the photo and clearly visible.

Her prior description was not accurate as to DiCapua. Starnes described a man 45-50 years old and DiCapua was close to seventy years old. The sketch does not look like DiCapua. The eyes and nose differ substantially. The nose in the sketch is flat and DiCapua's nose has a noticeable point. The lips are much thicker than DiCapua's.

While Starnes claimed she was 100% certain and not much time passed between the attack and the show-up at DiCapua's house, ultimately this case boils down to her failure to identify DiCapua in the lineup. She was told she would see a suspect at DiCapua's house and had already seen his photograph in the lineup. Combined with the highly suggestive and improper show-up procedure—which the solicitor approved—the court erred in allowing the in-court identification. The identification, and DiCapua's subsequent statements and jail calls, should all have been suppressed. State v. Adams, 409 S.C. 641, 648, 763 S.E.2d 341, 345 (2014) (stating that evidence derived from an illegal arrest must be suppressed as fruit of the poisonous tree). This Court should reverse.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, appellant's conviction should be reversed and this case remanded for a new trial.



David Alexander
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT