RECEIVED

Oct 05 2022

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Georgetown County
Honorable Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2021-000570

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

JEREMIAH DICAPUA,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Drawer 1276
Conway, SC 29526
(843) 915-5460

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

show-up is in time and proximity to the scene of the crime. Brown, 356 S.C. at 504, 589 S.E.2d at 785. Furthermore, a show-up may even be proper where the police refer to the suspect as a suspect and the suspect is handcuffed and in the presence of law enforcement officers. Id.

In the event an identification procedure is found to have been unnecessarily and unduly suggestive, it must then—pursuant to the second step of the applicable two-prong inquiry—be determined whether the suggestiveness of the procedure resulted in a substantial likelihood of misidentification. State v. Liverman, 398 S.C. 130, 138, 727 S.E.2d 422, 426 (2012). Critically, identification evidence may still be admissible if the State can prove by clear and convincing evidence the identification is reliable notwithstanding the suggestiveness of the identification procedure employed. State v. Govan, 372 S.C. 552, 559, 643 S.E.2d 92, 95-96 (Ct. App. 2007); see State v. Traylor, 360 S.C. 74, 82, 600 S.E.2d 523, 527 (2004) (“Even assuming an identification procedure is suggestive, it need not be excluded so long as, under all the circumstances, the identification was reliable notwithstanding the suggestiveness.”). When determining whether the identification is reliable, a court must look to the totality of the circumstances, and the following factors are pertinent to the inquiry: (1) the opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime; (2) the witness’s degree of attention; (3) the accuracy of the witness’s prior description of the criminal; (4) the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation; and (5) the amount of time between the crime and the identification. Govan, 372 S.C. at 559, 643 S.E.2d at 96; see also State v. Scipio, 283 S.C. 124, 127, 322 S.E.2d 15, 17 (1984) (“The reliability of an identification is determined by the facts.”). Upon examining those factors, a court ordinarily should admit identification evidence and allow the jury to determine its worth “if the indicia of reliability are strong enough to outweigh the corrupting effect of the police-arranged suggestive circumstances[.]” Perry, 565 U.S. at 232; see

Harker v. Maryland, 800 F.2d 437, 443 (4th Cir. 1983) (instructing the exclusion is a “drastic sanction” and should be “limited to identification testimony which is manifestly suspect”).

In the case sub judice, the show-up identification procedure employed—although unquestionably suggestive—was not *unnecessarily* suggestive under the specific circumstances involved.⁹ See Wyatt, 421 S.C. at 312, 806 S.E.2d at 711 (“[T]he analysis under the first prong is not complete without considering the necessity of the procedures.”). Looking to those circumstances, the crime involved in Appellant’s case was committed during a prime vacation month at a tourist location where non-resident visitors to the area regularly come and go in large numbers, and, based on that, officers had an urgent need to quickly be able to confirm or dispel their suspicions regarding Appellant so they could rapidly shift their investigation in a different direction before the perpetrator—who potentially could have only been temporarily visiting Garden City *just like Victim*—left the area if he was not, in fact, actually Appellant as suspected. See id. at 313-314, 806 S.E.2d at 712 (finding a show-up to be necessary when its use enabled officers to determine whether they needed to continue searching “before other suspects could leave the area”); see also Baynes v. State, 463 S.E.2d 144, 146 (Ga. Ct. App. 1995) (recognizing factors than may render a show-up identification “permissible if not desirable” include “the necessity of a speedy police investigation and the necessity to resolve promptly any doubts as to identification so as to enhance the accuracy and reliability of the identification, thus expediting the release of innocent subjects”); cf. Brisco v. Ercole, 565 F.3d 80, 91 (2d Cir. 2009) (explaining it was not unreasonable to conclude a show-up was not *unnecessarily* suggestive

⁹ Significantly, when ruling on the admissibility of the identification evidence, the trial judge did not make any specific findings as to why the procedure employed in Appellant’s case was not necessary under the circumstances involved. (R. p. 191). Instead, the trial judge simply—and without further explanation or analysis—stated: “Clearly, this was not a *proper* procedure. I don’t think anybody can argue with that.” (R. p. 191) (emphasis added).

because “the procedure enabled the officers to determine whether they ‘had their man’ while the witness’s memory was still fresh and while the maroon shorts were still available as evidence” and noting “the officers could resume their search for the offender” if no identification was made during the show-up). Relatedly, prior to the show-up, the officers had attempted *unsuccessfully* to employ a less-suggestive identification procedure in the form of a photographic lineup, but that particular procedure was not effective due to the unavailability of any recent photographs of Appellant that accurately reflected what he looked like at that time.¹⁰ See Wyatt, 421 S.C. at 315, 806 S.E.2d at 712 (finding a show-up to be necessary when another type of identification procedure would have been “unworkable” under the circumstances involved); cf. State v. Bell, 537 A.2d 496, 499 (Conn. App. Ct. 1988) (concluding a show-up was “reasonably necessary” such that no further analysis was necessary when “[t]he victim, who had given a complete description of her assailant to the police, was unable before then to identify her attacker from photo arrays within the short interval before his apprehension, finding the process ‘overwhelming’ ”). Furthermore, as explained during trial, it was not practical or feasible for the officers to attempt to conduct a physical in-person lineup due to the officers’ inability to timely find individuals with similar physical characteristics to Appellant, and—as Appellant now seems to be suggesting on appeal—the officers may have lacked a probable cause basis to arrest Appellant until he was positively identified by Victim such that they had no basis to take him into custody for purposes of conducting a physical in-person lineup or obtaining a new photograph that could be used in a more-accurate photographic lineup. See Wyatt, 421 S.C. at 314, 806 S.E.2d at 712 (finding a show-up to be necessary when “serious questions” existed as to

¹⁰ Notably, in the candid photograph of Appellant’s face taken around the time of the incident, Appellant looked quite a bit different than he did in the cropped image of him used in the photographic lineup shown to Victim, which helped to explain why Victim was unable to conclusively identify him from that lineup. (Supp. R. p. 15; p. 19).

whether an officer had probable cause to arrest Wyatt at the time of the show-up); see also United States v. Maguire, 918 F.2d 254, 263 (1st Cir. 1990) (“A suspect’s inclusion in two photospreads, even with the same photo, is not constitutionally impermissible.”). Considering the officers’ pressing need to identify the perpetrator of a brazen attempt to unlawfully snatch at least one complete stranger—and possibly more—off the street in a high-traffic tourist area coupled with the fact the officers had no other workable means by which they could confirm or dispel their suspicions concerning Appellant, the show-up identification employed—while certainly suggestive—was not *unnecessary* under the specific circumstances involved. See Perry, 565 U.S. at 238-239 (“[D]ue process concerns arise only when law enforcement officers use an identification procedure that is both suggestive *and unnecessary*.” (emphasis added)); cf. State v. Gambrell, 274 S.C. 587, 590, 266 S.E.2d 78, 81 (1980) (concluding the use of a photographic lineup that did not result in a conclusive identification followed by an in-person lineup in which Gambrell was the only suspect involved who had appeared in the earlier lineup was not “impermissibly suggestive” under the circumstances involved).

Meanwhile, looking to the characteristics of the show-up itself, it was conducted just a few days after the incident while Victim’s memory was still at its freshest, Appellant was neither handcuffed nor surrounded by uniformed officers at that time, no spotlights or anything similar were directed at Appellant to unduly highlight him, and Appellant had not yet even gotten rid of the vehicle used in the incident by that point.¹¹ See State v. Mansfield, 343 S.C. 66, 78, 538 S.E.2d 257, 263 (Ct. App. 2000) (indicating a show-up may be proper when—amongst other things—it occurs when the witness’s memory is still fresh and the suspect has not had time to

¹¹ Interestingly, Appellant did, in fact, get rid of the vehicle a short time after the officers made contact with him for the purpose of conducting the show-up identification procedure. (R. p. 229; pp. 306-308).

alter his looks *or dispose of evidence*); cf. Brisco, 565 F.3d at 93 (concluding the presence of maroon shorts at a show-up conducted after the victim described the burglar as wearing such shorts “add[ed] to, rather than detract[ed] from, the reliability” of the victim’s identification since “Brisco’s holding of the maroon shorts singled him out as the suspected burglar only if [the victim] was also able to identify the shorts as the ones seen on the burglar”). Similarly, helping to minimize the suggestiveness inherent in any show-up, Victim was only advised she was going to view a possible suspect, no information was provided to her about why Appellant in particular was suspected, and no pressure of any kind was placed on Victim to influence her or lead her to believe she was invariably required to make an identification during the show-up. See State v. Hilliard, 535 S.W.3d 341, 344 (Mo. Ct. App. 2016) (“A show-up is not impermissibly suggestive as long as the police do not unduly pressure the witness to make a positive identification.”); Brown, 356 S.C. at 504, 589 S.E.2d at 785 (“A show-up may be proper even though the police refer to the suspect as a suspect, and even though the suspect is handcuffed or is in the presence of the police.”). As a result, the officers’ use of that suggestive-but-nevertheless-necessary-under-the-circumstances identification procedure was not constitutionally improper, and the identification evidence was properly admitted during Appellant’s trial. See State v. Roberson, 935 N.W.2d 813, 819 (Wis. 2019) (“[I]f a suggestive law enforcement procedure was necessary, the state action that resulted in an identification will not implicate due process concerns.”); cf. Wyatt, 421 S.C. at 316, 806 S.E.2d at 713 (“The trial court was correct not to suppress [the witness]’s identification. However, the court should have considered the necessity of the police procedures under the first prong of Biggers instead of going straight to the second prong.”).

Critically though, even assuming the identification procedure employed actually was *unnecessarily* suggestive, the identification evidence was nonetheless still admissible during trial

because—just as the trial judge correctly found—no substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification existed under the specific circumstances of Appellant’s case. Looking to the relevant circumstances, Victim had an excellent opportunity to view Appellant during the incident because: (1) the incident occurred outdoors on a sunny day during daylight hours; (2) Victim encountered the perpetrator not once but twice over the course of a short period of time; (3) nothing was presented suggesting the perpetrator wore a mask or anything else that would have hidden any of his features from view; (4) Victim was able to and did look directly at the perpetrator’s face and eyes; and (5) Victim was in very close proximity to the perpetrator since he was within range to physically grab her. Cf. Turner, 373 S.C. at 128, 644 S.E.2d at 697 (finding identification evidence to be reliable where the victim had an ample opportunity to view her assailant at the time of the crime and had a “full facial view of him while he asked her questions”); Stewart, 275 S.C. at 449-450, 272 S.E.2d at 629 (finding identification evidence to be reliable even though the victim was only able to view the perpetrator’s face for *five to seven seconds* during the incident). Additionally, Victim’s attention was heightened due to the fact she was physically grabbed by a stranger, which would undeniably be a terrifying and startling event to any normal person, and the event was so personally startling to Victim she affirmed she would *never* forget how the perpetrator’s eyes looked at that time. See Howard v. Bouchard, 405 F.3d 459, 473 (6th Cir. 2005) (“Generally, we place greater trust in witness identifications made during the commission of a crime because the witness has a reason to pay attention to the perpetrator.”); Govan, 372 at 560, 643 S.E.2d at 96 (recognizing a victim’s attention would have been heightened during an armed robbery); Blassingame, 338 S.C. at 252, 525 S.E.2d at 541-542 (“A person in fear of his life presumably has a more acute degree of attention to his surroundings than a mere passerby.”). Likewise, Victim provided a description of both the perpetrator and the

perpetrator's vehicle after the crime, and her descriptions were both largely accurate and of good enough quality to lead to the creation of a composite sketch from which Appellant was able to be identified by someone familiar with him. Cf. Brisco, 565 F.3d at 92 (rejecting the suggestion an identification was unreliable due to the fact Brisco was thirty-eight years old while the perpetrator was initially described as being eighteen to twenty years old and noting "age can be a particularly difficult characteristic to describe accurately"); Govan, 372 S.C. at 555, 643 S.E.2d at 93-94 (finding an out-of-court identification to be sufficiently reliable based on the consistency of the prior description even though the description of the suspect was simply "a black guy in a long black jacket and black hat (or rag)"); State v. Johnson, 311 S.C. 132, 134, 427 S.E.2d 718, 719 (Ct. App. 1993) (finding identification evidence to be reliable even though the victim described the robber as wearing a ski jacket and cap and Johnson was not wearing a jacket or hat when he was apprehended). Furthermore, Victim immediately recognized both Appellant and his vehicle upon seeing them in person, she expressed absolute certainty in her identification of Appellant as the perpetrator, she was still completely certain of her identification by the time of trial, and the reliability of her expressed certainty was enhanced by the fact she had previously declined to identify anyone from the earlier photographic lineup due to a lack of total certainty on her part, which showed she was both conscious of the need to avoid wrongfully misidentifying anyone and only willing to make an identification if and when she was sure of it. Cf. United States v. Leonardi, 623 F.2d 746, 756 (2d Cir. 1980) (concluding the reliability of an identification was enhanced by the fact the witness had previously refused to identify anyone from earlier lineups, which demonstrated he was not readily susceptible to suggestive influences); State v. Frazier, 394 S.C. 213, 222, 715 S.E.2d 650, 654 (Ct. App. 2011) ("Although Sanders's description of Frazier's jacket was incorrect, she demonstrated a high

degree of certainty in her identification during the show-up.”). Finally, Victim identified Appellant as the perpetrator within just days of the incident, which meant only a brief period of time elapsed between the incident and her identification. See United States v. Jones, 454 F.3d 642, 650 (7th Cir. 2006) (concluding “nine days is a relatively short delay” when determining the reliability of identification evidence); United States v. Gatewood, 230 F.3d 186, 193 (6th Cir. 2000) (finding identifications to be reliable when they occurred “only four days later”); United States v. Downs, 230 F.3d 272, 275 (7th Cir. 2000) (“[F]ive days between the incident and the line-up is not such a long span of time that memory lapses would be a problem.”).

When considering the totality of those circumstances, strong-enough indicia of reliability were present such that the identification evidence in Appellant’s case was sufficiently reliable to be admissible and no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed. See State v. Tisdale, 338 S.C. 607, 614-615, 527 S.E.2d 389, 393 (Ct. App. 2000) (finding the identification evidence was properly admitted where the circumstances surrounding the out-of-court identifications supported a finding the evidence was reliable); see also Perry, 565 U.S. at 245 (“[I]f the indicia of reliability are strong enough to outweigh the corrupting effect of the police-arranged suggestive circumstances, the identification evidence ordinarily will be admitted, and the jury will ultimately determine its worth.”). And, significantly, the reliability of that identification was further enhanced by the fact *Appellant himself* eliminated any conceivable doubts as to its accuracy by subsequently confirming he did, in fact, grab Victim on the date of the incident through both his statements to law enforcement and to his own family members.¹² See Brisco,

¹² Beyond that, even assuming the admission of the identification evidence was somehow improper, the admission of that evidence was entirely harmless because the other evidence presented during trial, which included Appellant’s multiple incriminating admissions confirming his involvement in the incident, the identification of Appellant from the composite sketch, and Appellant’s possession of a vehicle matching the one involved in the incident, overwhelmingly

565 F.3d at 94 (explaining the factors identified in Biggers “do not necessarily exhaust the possible ways in which identification evidence may prove to be reliable or unreliable” and noting “the Supreme Court was careful to say that the factors to be considered ‘include’ the five named ones”); cf. Gambrell, 274 S.C. at 591, 266 S.E.2d at 81 (concluding no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed such that identification evidence was properly admitted during trial based in part on the fact “the victim’s identification of [Gambrell] was corroborated by the jewelry store employee’s positive identification of [Gambrell] as the one who sold the ring”).

Accordingly, because the identification procedure employed in Appellant’s case was not *unnecessarily* suggestive and because—even if it was—no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed under the totality of the circumstances, the trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion by declining to employ the drastic remedy of suppressing the identification evidence and prohibiting Victim from identifying her victimizer during trial.¹³ See Harker, 800

established Appellant was, in fact, the perpetrator in an entirely independent fashion from Victim’s out-of-court and in-court identifications of him. See State v. Bryant, 369 S.C. 511, 518, 633 S.E.2d 152, 156 (2006) (“[A]ppellate courts will not set aside convictions due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result.”); see also Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 296 (1991) (“A confession is like no other evidence. Indeed, the defendant’s own confession is probably the most probative and damaging evidence that can be admitted against him. The admissions of a defendant come from the actor himself, the most knowledgeable and unimpeachable source of information about his past conduct. Certainly, confessions have profound impact on the jury, so much so that we may justifiably doubt its ability to put them out of mind even if told to do so.” (citations, internal quotations, brackets, and ellipsis omitted)); cf. State v. Thompson, 276 S.C. 616, 621, 281 S.E.2d 216, 219 (1981) (“[Thompson]’s accomplice testified, subject to cross examination, against [Thompson] at trial and identified him in court. In light of the accomplice’s damaging testimony and other corroborative evidence linking [Thompson] to the crime, the improper in-court identification by the clerk was merely cumulative to independent and overwhelming evidence of guilt.”).

¹³ On appeal, Appellant contends both the identification *and* his “subsequent statements and jail calls” should have been suppressed due to the purportedly unnecessarily suggestive identification procedure employed in his case, and, in doing so, he appears to be alleging—in a wholly conclusory fashion—the identification procedure somehow rendered his arrest illegal. (App. Br. pp. 9-10). First, notwithstanding the conclusory nature of Appellant’s freshly-conceived

F.2d at 443 (“The exclusion of evidence from the jury is . . . a drastic sanction, one that is limited to identification testimony which is manifestly suspect.”); see also Perry, 565 U.S. at 232 (“[T]he reliability of relevant testimony typically falls within the province of the jury to determine. . . .

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